
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

             

                          

                                     

 

 

MEETING OF THE BOARD OF TRUSTEES 

Thursday, September 5, 2019 – 3:00 p.m. 

Isadore A. Shrager Boardroom – M2-1 

 

Table of Contents 

 

 

 

(1) Agenda         Pages 2-3 

       

(2) Proceedings and Minutes of Decisions and Resolutions 

    Meeting of June 6, 2019       Pages 4-12 

             

(3) Gifts and Grants        Pages 13-15 

 

(4) Minutes of the June 5, 2019 Audit Committee    Pages 16-65 

 

(5) Minutes of the June 6, 2019 Student Outcomes Committee   Pages 66-85 

           

(6) Minutes of the Business Affairs and Executive Committees of June 19,  Pages 86-108 

July 22, August 14 and 30, 2019 

 

(7) September Calendar of Events      Pages 109-110 

             

    

 

 

######## 

 

1



 

 

 

 

 

 

                     MEETING OF THE BOARD OF TRUSTEES 

AGENDA 

Thursday, September 5, 2019 – 3:00 p.m. 

Isadore A. Shrager Boardroom, M2-1 

 

(1) Executive Session 

 

(2) Meeting Called to Order 

 

(3) Public Comment 

 

(4) Report of the Business Affairs Committee 

 

(5) Report of the Student Outcomes Committee 

 

(6) Consent Agenda   

 

(a) Proceedings and Minutes of Decisions and Resolutions 

Meeting of June 6, 2019 

(b) Gifts and Grants 

(c) Academic Program Reviews: A.A. in Accounting, Accounting Paraprofessional 

Proficiency Certificate, Entrepreneurship Proficiency Certificate 

 

(7) Ratification of Executive Committee Actions 

 

(a) 2019-20 Property and Casualty Insurance Renewal Package 

(b) Bid Results for the Library and Learning Commons Renovations Project 

(c) Fire Protection – Rebid 

(d) First Amendment to the Lease Agreement with RPG Hamilton, L.L.C. 

(e) Stop Loss Insurance 

 

(8) Report of the Chair 

 

(9) Foundation Report 

 

(10) Report of the President 

 

 (a) Report on Security Protocols and Preparation 

 

(11) New Business 

 

(12) Next Meeting:   Thursday, October 3, 2019 – 3:00 p.m. 

      Isadore A. Shrager Boardroom, M2-1 

2



 

 

 

 

Future Committee Meetings: 

 

Business Affairs:    Wednesday, September 18, 2019 

      9:00 a.m. – Isadore A. Shrager Boardroom, M2-1 

 

Audit Committee:    Wednesday, September 25, 2019 

      12:00 p.m. – Isadore A. Shrager Boardroom, M2-1 

 

Student Outcomes:    Thursday, October 3, 2019 

      1:30 p.m. – M2-34  

 

Upcoming Events 

  

 Board of Trustees Dinner   Tuesday, September 24, 2019  

       5:30 p.m. – Fork Restaurant 

       306 Market Street 

    

 ACCT Leadership Congress   October 16-19, 2019 

       Hilton San Francisco Union Square 

       333 O’Farrell Street 

       San Francisco, CA  

 

 Commission for Community Colleges Tuesday, November 12, 2019 

 Northeast Regional Trustees Meeting  5:30 p.m. – Klein Cube 

 

 Board of Trustees Retreat   Saturday, November 16, 2019 

       8:00 a.m. – 3:00 p.m. 

       Center for Business and Industry 

       1751 Callowhill Street – C2-5 

 

  

  

 

 

 

 

                                                         ################## 

3



 
 

COMMUNITY COLLEGE OF PHILADELPHIA 
Proceedings of the Meeting of the Board of Trustees 

Thursday, June 6, 2019 – 3:00 p.m. 
 
 

Present: Dr. Generals, presiding; Mr. Clancy, Mr. Epps, Ms. Fulmore-Townsend, Ms. Ireland, Ms. 
Jean-Baptiste, Ms. McPherson, Ms. Posoff, Representative Roebuck, Mr. White, Dr. 
Generals, Dr. Gay, Mr. Eapen, Dr. Hirsch, Ms. de Fries, Ms. DiGregorio, and Ms. Zellers 

 
(1) Executive Session 
 
 The Executive Session was devoted to a discussion of personnel matters and litigation.   
 
(2) Meeting Called to Order 
 
(3) Public Comment 
 
 There were no requests for Public Comment. 
 
(4) Report of the Business Affairs Committee 
 
(4a) 2019-2020 Fiscal Year Budget 
 
 Dr. Generals stated that he was presenting a balanced budget for 2019-2020.  He provided the 
following highlights of the proposed budget: 
 

 No increase in tuition or fees; 

 No increase from the State; 

 Goals and objectives of Impact: 2025 are reflected throughout the budget; and 

 Collective bargaining agreement considerations are built in the budget. 
 

Dr. Generals reviewed the five Pillars: Student Experience, Workforce Development Readiness 
and Economic Innovation, Fiscal Stability and Sustainability; World-Class Facilities, and External and 
Internal Community Relations.  Dr. Generals stated that the total proposed operating budget is 
$148,709,185 and the capital budget is $13,038,243. 

 
 Mr. Epps requested a report on the maintenance of the regional centers at a future meeting.  
Mr. Eapen stated that a budget plan for the regional centers maintenance will be included in the capital 
budget which will be available in August. 
 
 Mr. White stated that the Business Affairs Committee had conducted a vigorous analysis of the 
proposed budget.  He stated that a 1% increase in enrollment is assumed in the budget.  Mr. White 
stated that staff are working aggressively to recruit students on a number of fronts including marketing, 
communication by phone, emails, advertising, and social media. 
 

4



 After discussion, Mr. Epps moved, with Ms. McPherson seconding, that the Board approve the 
proposed 2019-2020 Budget. The motion carried unanimously. 
 
(4b) Resolution for Wage Increases and Health Plan Changes for 
 Administrators, Grant Administrators, and Confidential Employees 
 
 At the request of Mr. White, Ms. Zellers read the following Resolution for Board approval: 

 
WHEREAS, on June 1, 2017, the Board of Trustees approved a two percent (2%) salary increase 
for the Community College of Philadelphia’s Administrators (excluding the Vice Presidents and 
General Counsel) and Grant Administrators and a two percent (2%) increase to the hourly rate 
for Confidential Employees effective July 1, 2017;  

 
WHEREAS, on June 7, 2018, the Board of Trustees approved a two percent (2%) salary increase 
for the Community College of Philadelphia’s Administrators (excluding the Vice Presidents and 
General Counsel) and Grant Administrators and a two percent (2%) increase to the hourly rate 
for Confidential Employees effective July 1, 2018;  

 
WHEREAS, on October 4, 2018, the Board of Trustees approved a two percent (2%) salary 
increase for the Community College of Philadelphia’s Vice Presidents and General Counsel 
serving on the College’s Cabinet retroactively to July 1, 2018;  

 
WHEREAS, on April 4, 2019, the Board of Trustees approved the three Memorandum of 
Agreements (“MOAs”) with the College’s unionized staff for full-time faculty, adjunct and visiting 
lecturer faculty, and classified agreements which included both wage increases and health plan 
changes;  
 
WHEREAS, on May 30, 2019, the Business Affairs Committee of the Board of Trustees approved 
a motion recommending that the full Board of Trustees approve a Resolution as outlined below:  

 
Now, therefore, on this 6th day of June, 2019, the Board of Trustees approves the following:  
 

(1) Subject to evaluation and performance, College Administrators, Grant Administrators, and 
Confidential Staff are eligible to receive a retroactive raise for July 1, 2018 – June 30, 2019 so 
that their total combined raises from July 1, 2017 - June 30, 2019, are commensurate with the 
percentage raise approved for the full-time faculty, adjunct teaching and visiting lecturer faculty 
and classified staff for Academic Year September 1, 2018 - August 30, 2019 as set forth in the 
MOAs; provided however that the percentage of the raise shall be pro-rated for any employee 
who was not employed for the entire fiscal year and the preceding fiscal year in accordance with 
College practice;  
 

(2) Subject to evaluation and performance, College Administrators, Grant Administrators, and  
Confidential Staff are eligible to receive a 3% raise for fiscal year July 1, 2019- June 30, 2020, 
which is commensurate with the raise that the full-time faculty, adjunct teaching and visiting 
lecturer faculty and classified staff were approved to receive for Academic Year September 1, 
2019 - August 30, 2020 as set forth in the MOAs; provided however that the percentage of the 
raise shall be pro-rated for any employee who was not employed for the entire prior fiscal year 
in accordance with College practice;  

5



 
(3) Starting September 1, 2019, the increased medical plan deductibles, premium costs for the PPO 

Personal Choice medical plan, and the prescription drug benefit changes that were approved for 
the unionized employees in the MOAs will apply to the benefits available to College’s 
Administrators, Grant Administrators, and Confidential Employees to the extent applicable to 
the benefits available for each group of employees, except that for College Administrators 
making over $150,000: the premium costs for PPO Personal Choice plan shall be as follows: (a) 
for September 1, 2019-August 31, 2020, the cost shall be $32.88 for employee only coverage; 
$49.32 for employee/spouse or employee/child; and $65.76 for family coverage; and (b) for 
September 1, 2020-August 31, 2021, the premium costs for the PPO Personal Choice plan shall 
be $51.96 for employee only coverage; $77.88 for employee/spouse or employee/child; and 
$103.84 for family coverage; and  

 
(4) Eligibility for post-retirement medical benefits and the form and amount of benefits for full-time 

College Administrators and full-time Confidential Staff shall be changed to be consistent with 
the post-retirement medical benefits for full-time faculty and full-time confidential staff as 
outlined in the MOAs.  

 
Mr. White stated that the Business Affairs Committee had reviewed the Resolution carefully and 

was making the recommendation. 
 
 After discussion, Mr. Epps moved, with Mr. Clancy seconding, that the Board approve the above 
Resolution.  The motion carried unanimously. 
 

(5) Report of the Audit Committee 
 
 Mr. White reported that the Audit Committee had met on June 5, 2019.  He stated that the 
College had extended the contract with Grant Thornton for another year.  Mr. White stated that Grant 
Thornton discussed a number of new accounting pronouncements in the industry of which the College is 
aware.  Mr. White stated that the Committee also discussed the budget and issues related to new 
accounting changes.   
 

Mr. White stated that the College has an internal auditor who reviews areas of the College.  He 
stated that the internal auditor makes recommendations to mitigate risk.   Mr. White stated that the 
College has created an Internal Audit Committee comprised of Mr. Lim, Dr. Hirsch, Mr. Eapen, Ms. 
Zellers, and Dr. Gay as ex- officio.  The purpose of the Committee is to come to agreement on follow-up 
actions when there seems to be a difference of opinion about the appropriate steps.    

 
Mr. White stated that an RFP for a new auditing firm will take place in the 2020-2021 fiscal year.  

The College is reviewing a list of audit firms.  Mr. White asked members of the Board for names of 
women and minority owned accounting firms that can apply for the work.   
 
(6) Report of the Student Outcomes Committee 
 
 Ms. Posoff reported that the Committee had met immediately prior to the Board of Trustees 
meeting.  She stated that the Committee had discussed and approved that Dr. Pascal Scoles, Jr. be 
nominated for the Association of Community College Trustees Faculty Award.   
 

6



 
 
 At the request of Ms. Posoff, Dr.  Hirsch reviewed and discussed the nomination of Dr. Scoles.  
He stated that in reviewing the criteria for the award, it was agreed that Dr. Scoles was an excellent 
candidate for this prestigious faculty award.  Dr. Hirsch reviewed Dr. Scoles’ background noting that his 
work is in the contemporary issue of addiction and recovery.  Dr. Hirsch stated that Dr. Scoles is an 
excellent faculty to showcase his work at Community College of Philadelphia.   
 
(7) Consent Agenda 
 

(a) Proceedings and Minutes of Decisions and Resolutions 
Meeting of May 2, 2019 

(b) Gifts and Grants 
(c) Academic Program Reviews:  A.A. in Theater, Acting Proficiency 

Certificate, Technical Theater Proficiency Certificate 
 

 Ms. Posoff moved, with Mr. Epps seconding, that the Board approve the Consent Agenda. The 
motion carried unanimously. 
 
(8) Report of the Chair 
 
(8a) President’s Compensation 
 
 As Chair of the Executive Committee, Mr. White moved that the Board of Trustees approve the 
compensation recommendations for the President’s Compensation.  Mr. Epps seconded the motion.  
The motion carried unanimously. 
 
 Mr. White thanked the Board for their support of the Black and Gold Gala.  He stated that he 
appreciated everyone’s participation. 
 
(9) Foundation Report 
 
 Mr. Eapen reported that in addition to the gifts and grants report in the Board packet, the 
College had received the following grants: 
 

 A grant from the Pennsylvania Department of Community and Economic Development 
for $200,000 for PA Manufacturing Training-to-Career program; and 

 A grant for $100,000 from the New York Life Foundation for drone summer camp. 
 

Mr. Eapen reminded members of the Board of the Black and Gold Gala scheduled for June 12, 
2019 at 6:00 p.m., at Vie located at 600 North Broad Street. 

 
(10) Report of the President 
 
 Dr. Generals called attention to his memorandum in the Board folder outlining activities in 
which he participated May 3 – June 6, 2019. 
 
 

7



(10a) Government Relations Officer 
 
 Dr. Generals introduced Ms. Jasmine Sessoms, the College’s new Government Relations Officer.  
He stated that Jasmine holds a Master’s in Organizational Development and Leadership from the 
Philadelphia College of Osteopathic Medicine; a Bachelor of Science in Hospitality Management, with a 
minor in Marketing from Morgan State University; and a certificate in Fund Development from Villanova 
University.  Currently Jasmine is the owner of her own consulting firm, J&S Strategies.  She is the 
recipient of numerous awards including the Business Journal’s 40 under 40 Award in 2019. 
 
 The Board welcomed Ms. Sessoms. 
 
(10b) On-Campus Events 
 
 Dr. Generals thanked Mr. Soileau and Comcast for the Comcast Cares Day held at the College on 
May 3, 2019.  Comcast came to the College to help students develop their professional skills with panel 
discussions on “Finding Your Passion” and “Diversity in the Workforce.”  Students were also assisted 
with resume building and practice interviews. 
 
 Dr. Generals reported that the Division of Workforce Development and Economic Innovation 
held a Client Appreciation Reception to thank our corporate partners on June 5, 2019.   
 
(10c) Off-Campus Events 
 
 Dr. Generals called attention to the following on-campus events in which he participated: 
 

 Met with Fire Commissioner Adam Thiel on May 21, 2019 regarding the City’s need for 
an EMT program; 

 

 Met with Aaron Walton, President of Cheyney University and members of his staff 
regarding possible partnerships between Cheyney University and Community College of 
Philadelphia.  A transfer agreement, a teacher’s education pipeline, and a 
campus/weekend program were discussed; and 

 

 Keynote speaker at the iPraxis event on May 29, 2019.   About 50 students were 
recognized for their science projects.   

 
(10d) Office of Institutional Advancement 
 
 Dr. Generals stated that the Office of Institutional Advancement is in transition in terms of 
leadership.  He stated that he is presently in discussions with a consulting fundraising firm.  Dr. Generals 
stated that Ms. Sokolov Bluestone is working to develop her own prospects.  Ms. Posoff requested a 
copy of the job description. 
 
(10e) Board of Trustees Retreat 
 
 Dr. General reminded members of the Board regarding the Board Retreat which is scheduled for 
Saturday, November 16, 2019.   
 

8



(11) New Business 
 
 There was no new business discussed at the meeting. 
 
(12) Next Meeting 
 
 The next meeting of the Board of Trustees is scheduled for Thursday, September 5, 2019 at 3:00 
p.m., in the Isadore A. Shrager Boardroom, M2-1. 
 
 The meeting adjourned at 4:15 p.m. 
 

9



 
COMMUNITY COLLEGE OF PHILADELPHIA 

Meeting of the Board of Trustees 
Thursday, June 6, 2019 – 3:00 p.m. 

MINUTES OF DECISIONS AND RESOLUTIONS 
 
Present: Dr. Generals, presiding; Mr. Clancy, Mr. Epps, Ms. Fulmore-Townsend, Ms. Ireland, Ms. 

Jean-Baptiste, Ms. McPherson, Ms. Posoff, Representative Roebuck, Mr. White, Dr. 
Generals, Dr. Gay, Mr. Eapen, Dr. Hirsch, Ms. de Fries, Ms. DiGregorio, and Ms. Zellers 

 
(1) Executive Session 
 
 The Executive Session was devoted to a discussion of personnel matters and litigation.   
 
(2) Meeting Called to Order 
 
(3) Public Comment 
 
 There were no requests for Public Comment. 
 
(4) Report of the Business Affairs Committee 
 
(4a) 2019-2020 Fiscal Year Budget 
 
 The Board approved the proposed 2019-2020 Budget.  
 
(4b) Resolution for Wage Increases and Health Plan Changes for 
 Administrators, Grant Administrators, and Confidential Employees 
 
 The Board approved the Resolution for Wage Increases and Health Plan Changes for 
Administrators, Grant Administrators, and Confidential Employees. 
 

(5) Report of the Audit Committee 
 
 The Audit Committee had met on June 5, 2019.  The Committee discussed a number of new 
accounting pronouncements in the industry of which the College is aware, as well as budget and issues 
related to new accounting changes.  The Committee noted that an RFP for a new auditing firm will take 
place in the 2020-2021 fiscal year.   
 
(6) Report of the Student Outcomes Committee 
 

The Committee met immediately prior to the Board of Trustees meeting.  The Committee 
discussed and approved that Dr. Pascal Scoles, Jr. be nominated for the Association of Community 
College Trustees Faculty Award.   
 
 
 
 

10



(7) Consent Agenda 
 

(a) Proceedings and Minutes of Decisions and Resolutions 
Meeting of May 2, 2019 

(b) Gifts and Grants 
(c) Academic Program Reviews:  A.A. in Theater, Acting Proficiency 

Certificate, Technical Theater Proficiency Certificate 
 

 The Board approved the Consent Agenda. 
 
(8) Report of the Chair 
 
(8a) President’s Compensation 
 
 The Board approved the compensation recommendations for the President’s Compensation.   
 
(9) Foundation Report 
 
 Mr. Eapen reported that in addition to the gifts and grants report in the Board packet, the 
College had received the following grants: 
 

 A grant from the Pennsylvania Department of Community and Economic Development 
for $200,000 for PA Manufacturing Training-to-Career program; and 

 A grant for $100,000 from the New York Life Foundation for drone summer camp. 
 

Mr. Eapen reminded members of the Board of the Black and Gold Gala scheduled for June 12, 
2019 at 6:00 p.m., at Vie located at 600 North Broad Street. 

 
(10) Report of the President 
 
 Dr. Generals called attention to his memorandum in the Board folder outlining activities in 
which he participated May 3 – June 6, 2019. 
 
(10a) Government Relations Officer 
 
 The Board welcomed Ms. Jasmine Sessoms, the College’s new Government Relations Officer.   
 
(10b) On-Campus Events 
 
 Dr. Generals thanked Mr. Soileau and Comcast for the Comcast Cares Day held at the College on 
May 3, 2019.   
 
 The Division of Workforce Development and Economic Innovation held a Client Appreciation 
Reception to thank our corporate partners on June 5, 2019.   
 
 
 
 

11



(10c) Off-Campus Events 
 
 Dr. Generals called attention to the following on-campus events in which he participated: 
 

 Met with Fire Commissioner Adam Thiel on May 21, 2019 regarding the City’s need for 
an EMT program; 

 

 Met with Aaron Walton, President of Cheyney University and members of his staff 
regarding possible partnerships between Cheyney University and Community College of 
Philadelphia.  A transfer agreement, a teacher’s education pipeline, and a 
campus/weekend program were discussed; and 

 

 Was keynote speaker at the iPraxis event on May 29, 2019.   
 
(10d) Office of Institutional Advancement 
 
 The Office of Institutional Advancement is in transition in terms of leadership.  Dr. Generals is 
presently in discussions with a consulting fundraising firm.   
 
(10e) Board of Trustees Retreat 
 
 Dr. General reminded members of the Board regarding the Board Retreat which is scheduled for 
Saturday, November 16, 2019.   
 
(11) New Business 
 
 There was no new business discussed at the meeting. 
 
(12) Next Meeting 
 
 The next meeting of the Board of Trustees is scheduled for Thursday, September 5, 2019 at 3:00 
p.m., in the Isadore A. Shrager Boardroom, M2-1. 
 
 The meeting adjourned at 4:15 p.m. 
 

12



13



14



15



16



17



18



19



20



21



22



23



24



25



26



27



28



29



30



31



32



33



34



35



36



37



38



39



40



41



42



43



44



45



46



47



48



49



50



51



52



53



54



55



56



57



58



59



60



61



62



63



64



65



 

STUDENT OUTCOMES COMMITTEE OF THE 
BOARD OF TRUSTEES 

 
MINUTES 

 
Thursday, June 6, 2019 

1:30 p.m. 
Conference Room M2-34 

 

Presiding:  Ms. Posoff 

Committee  
Members:   Ms. Ireland, Ms. McPherson 
 
College  
Members:  Mr. Coleman, Ms. de Fries, Dr. Gay, Dr. Generals, Dr. Hirsch, Dr. Roberts 
 
Guests: Dr. Carter, Ms. Frizell, Ms. Gordon, Mr. Saxton 
 
(1) Executive Session 

There were no agenda items for the Executive Session. 
 

(2) Public Session 
 

(a) Approval of the Minutes of May 2, 2019 
The minutes were approved unanimously.  

 
(b) Academic Program Reviews: A.A. in Accounting, Accounting Paraprofessional 

Proficiency Certificate, Entrepreneurship Proficiency Certificate 
Ms. Frizell, from the Office of Academic Assessment, noted two aspects of the 
review: enrollments dropped during the period studied and there is a disconnect 
between assessment and grades. The report recommends the program discuss possible 
causes. Dr. Carter added that they want to closely examine the assessment data, 
especially regarding ACCT 101. She described how students may not know what 
accounting actually entails, that these students drop or withdraw from ACCT 101, and 
how this can affect assessments. Regarding enrollments, Dr. Carter explained that 
there used to be a false understanding that if one wants to be a CPA, one should not 
complete an AAS in Accounting. While it is correct that students who want to 
transfer to certain schools should complete the Business-General degree, there are 
pathways to employment with an AAS that could eventually lead to continued studies 
that the employer may fund. Students in the Accounting AAS program complete 
BUSL 101, which exposes students to the College’s various business programs so 
that students know their options and can make more informed decisions. 
Additionally, the program is meeting with Admissions, Advising, and Counseling to 
ensure everyone has the correct information to provide to students and to prospective 

66



 

students still in high school; this information will also be posted online and provided 
to high school counselors. The timeline for this is completion by mid-Fall. Mr. Saxton 
noted that it is a challenge for students to know before they begin their studies that 
they want to transfer and to which school, but BUSL 101 is addressing this. In 
regards to upper-level accounting courses transferring, Dr. Carter noted that while 
some will not fill requirements at some four-year institutions, that there are many 
four-year institutions that do articulate well with Accounting. 
 
Regarding the Accounting Paraprofessional proficiency certificate (PC), Ms. Frizell 
noted that over 50% of the students are 30 years or older and that it has a higher 
percentage of Black males than the College average. It is recommended that the 
program review retention strategies and determine which jobs are available with just 
the proficiency certificate. Dr. Carter said that the program needs to look closely at 
the data regarding retention and reasons for students leaving; the PC also has the 
same assessment challenges as the AAS. There is the ongoing challenge of tracking 
students after they leave or graduate; the program is trying to increase student 
engagement and faculty involvement to make it then easier to track students. Dr. 
Carter mentioned that it would be helpful to examine data on students in the AAS 
who are also getting the PC. 
 
For the Entrepreneurship proficiency certificate, Ms. Gordon, from the Office of 
Academic Assessment, stated that there is a low number of students who are enrolled 
only in the Entrepreneurship PC. The program has made or will make two structural 
changes: 1) in Fall 2018, it was expanded to 16 credits to be eligible for financial aid; 
and 2) the Business Leadership AAS is launching in Fall 2019 and the 
Entrepreneurship PC is a stackable credential within that program. It is recommended 
that the program monitor enrollments to view the effectiveness of these changes. Dr. 
Carter explained that the program is only five years old. In the past three years, the 
program has put more courses online and enrollments in those courses have 
increased. The program added the Entrepreneurship Law course, which increased the 
credit hours to 16. There are currently three faculty who teach the Entrepreneurship 
courses; all three have been or still are entrepreneurs, have connections in the 
community, and bring in guest speakers. Based on her career experience, Ms. 
McPherson said that she hopes the courses teach students to successfully run a 
business. Ms. Ireland added that in her experience with non-profits, she has seen 
many people who want to start a non-profit and they would benefit from this type of 
program. Dr. Carter explained that the program is designed for people who do not 
have a strong business background and want to more effectively run their business; 
the focus of the program is very practical. She also said that the division is developing 
a new program focused on the entrepreneurial mindset mentioned by Ms. McPherson. 
The PC is linked to the new Fashion Merchandising and Marketing AAS, starting in 
Fall 2019. Ms. Ireland volunteered that if the program needs speakers, she could help.  

 
Action: The Student Outcomes Committee unanimously recommended that the 
Board of Trustees accept the program reviews with approval for five years.   

 
 

67



 

(c) Board Dashboard 
Dr. Hirsch noted that the review of the Dashboard is a continuation from the last 
meeting, with a focus on Workforce for the current meeting. Ms. de Fries explained 
that the following main areas are covered in the Dashboard: Corporate Solutions 
(metrics 4.1-4.3), 10,000 Small Businesses (4.4-4.7), and Career Connections (4.8-
4.11). For Corporate Solutions, they have exceeded their five-year goal. They have 
made progress on enrollments since 2015-16. Corporate College brings credit courses 
into businesses. There was transitions in staff between 2016-17 and 2017-18; an 
additional staff was hired in 2018-19. Ms. de Fries gave as examples of contract 
training fleet management for emissions testing, WEDnetPA, and contracts with 
Philadelphia Works and the Philadelphia airport. Revenues jumped in 2017-18 
because of the contract with Philadelphia Works. The number of clients decreased 
because some major companies, such as the hospital, stopped running programs and 
because of losing a staff member, but they are in the process of building that back up. 
Mr. Coleman described how they are trying to put more businesses in the pipeline 
with tuition reimbursement and extending relationships. To Ms. Posoff’s question 
about competitors, Ms. de Fries said that a lot of other colleges and universities in the 
city have similar programs. Their long-term project is to develop relationships. The 
number of business served in in the 10,000 Small Business (10KSB) program 
decreased in 2016-17 but then was steady in 2017-18. The process of developing a 
cohort starts with about 140 business that are then narrowed down to 60 for 
interviews to then 30 members accepted into the cohort. Who is accepted into the 
cohort is controlled at the national level; sometimes information provided about 
decisions is not adequate. The retention rate for 10KSB is good and the percent of 
scholars who increased revenues and created jobs exceeded the national averages. For 
Career Connections, the unit is doing things completely differently now and it is 
therefore difficult to compare 2017-18 to previous years. This section includes new 
metrics. The unit is trying to increase the number of students and employer 
engagement. They have technological tools that provide a great avenue for students to 
learn more about jobs and interviewing; they have recently made changes to the 
portal for job postings. It has been a slow start to the number of experiential learning 
opportunities created and they are trying to redesign their processes. They have hired 
a new Employment Partnership Manager and have planned for two additional staff. 
For metric 4.9, there are three numbers: employers who came to campus, students 
interviewed, and students hired. Ms. de Fries explained that Career Connections is 
part of the Academic Pathways by working with advisors, counselors, and Academic 
Pathway Facilitators. Career Connections is also involved with the first-year 
experience courses.  

 
(d) New Business 

There was no new business. 
 
 Next Meeting 

The next meeting of the Student Outcomes Committee of the Board is scheduled for 
September 5, 2019 at 1:30 p.m. in Conference Room M2-34. 
 

68



 

 
Attachments: 
Minutes of May 2, 2019 
A.A.S. in Accounting 
Accounting Paraprofessional Proficiency Certificate 
Entrepreneurship Proficiency Certificate 

69



 

STUDENT OUTCOMES COMMITTEE OF THE 
BOARD OF TRUSTEES 

 
MINUTES 

 
Thursday, May 2, 2019 

1:30 p.m. 
Conference Room M2-34 

 

Presiding:  Ms. Hernández Vélez 

Committee  
Members:   Ms. Fulmore-Townsend, Ms. Jean-Baptiste, Ms. McPherson, Ms. Posoff (via 

phone) 
 
College  
Members:  Mr. Coleman, Ms. de Fries, Dr. Gay, Dr. Generals, Dr. Hirsch, Dr. Roberts 
 
Guests: Ms. Frizell, Ms. Gordon, Dr. Nagaswami, Ms. Quinn, Dr. Sweet 
 
(1) Executive Session 

The committee discussed recent promotion portfolios. 
 

(2) Public Session 
 

(a) Approval of the Minutes of February 7, 2019 
The minutes were approved unanimously.  

 
 

(b) Academic Program Reviews: A.A. in Theater, Acting Proficiency Certificate, 
Technical Theater Proficiency Certificate 
Ms. Frizell, from the Office of Academic Assessment, provided an overview of the 
Theater A.A. program. She explained that many of the recommendations have already 
been addressed as the program began instituting program revisions throughout the 
review. Enrollment has decreased in the program, in part because of a recent large 
graduating class. The program has 1-2 percentage points more students on probation 
than the College average, but has a higher retention rate. Ms. Quinn, the program 
coordinator, commented on the program analysis. The program has many 
developmental English and ESL students. Many students go directly into the 
professional field upon graduation. Ms. Quinn would like to increase this, in addition 
to opportunities beyond acting and the visibility of the program. The program has 
made connections between students and the community. An example of this is 
working with the Greater Philadelphia Annual Auditions Student Program for 
students to audition for agents and theater companies; Ms. Quinn made the case for 
them to allow more two-year students to audition. The field is in a good position with 

70



 

the expansion of TV programming, such as Netflix, Amazon, etc., of which College 
students have been part. Ms. Quinn provided some highlights from a survey of recent 
graduates and students who have transferred, including work experience and 
continued studies (70 out of 86 former students responded). Students are also 
involved with CCPTV and the Digital Video Production program. Dr. Gay noted that 
Ms. Quinn received a community award from the Irish Echo, that organizations with 
which Ms. Quinn works have received grants, and that these organizations have hired 
CCP students/alumni. 
 
Ms. Quinn discussed how the Technical Theater proficiency certificate resulted from 
students who were not majors but were interested in Theater. This program addresses 
costumes, lighting, sound, set-building, new technology, crew jobs, and stage 
management. The program has found it challenging to run an advanced technical 
theater course, which is an option but not a requirement for the A.A. program. The 
program is attempting to run the course and will alert students who had not been able 
to take it in the past. Students are very interested in the PC programs. The faculty are 
planning to revise some program learning outcomes. Ms. McPherson noted that there 
are skills that are transferable to other areas, such as exhibition design. Ms. Quinn 
added that students perform in many ways outside of traditional acting roles, 
including acting out symptoms for medical students and performing at the National 
Constitution Center; such jobs are very flexible and offer an alternative to working in 
the service industry. Ms. McPherson commented that the program can encourage 
persons of color since they are still underrepresented in these exciting adjacent fields. 

 
Action: The Student Outcomes Committee unanimously recommended that the 
Board of Trustees accept the program reviews with approval for five years.   

 
 

(c) Board Dashboard 
Dr. Hirsch presented the periodic update of the Board Dashboard, focusing on 
Student Success metrics.  There has been a slight decline in Fall admissions for both 
full- and part-time first-time students, although the declines decreased for 2018-19. 
Dr. Hirsch explained that with the steady economy, fewer adults attend college part-
time; this is a national issue for both two- and four-year institutions. To address this, 
the College has developed accelerated programs and short-term trainings, is recruiting 
more former students to return and complete their studies, and is promoting giving 
credit for work experience. Ms. McPherson asked about community colleges trying to 
position themselves as an economical choice for full-time students before transferring 
to a four-year institution. Dr. Hirsch noted that this is a smaller pool of students and 
that other institutions have seen larger declines. Dr. Generals added that in this 
competitive market, the four-year institutions have become more aggressive by 
adapting practices traditional to community colleges, such as admitting 
developmental education students and developing certificates. In the Fall, the College 
will be marketing online programs for students in rural counties with fewer 
educational options (such as Pike county). 
 

71



 

Dr. Hirsch provided an updated Academic Pathways brochure to committee members. 
He explained that another strategy the College has undertaken is to develop new 
programs and opportunities, such as those in the Business, Entrepreneurship, and Law 
Academic Pathway: Tourism and Hospitality Management A.A., Fashion 
Merchandising and Marketing A.A.S., and Business Leadership A.A.S. The Liberal 
Arts and Communications Academic Pathway also has new programs, including two 
new post-baccalaureate ASL proficiency certificates and the new transfer Black 
Studies A.A. program. Under Health Care is a new accelerated Nursing program. 
Interest in the accelerated Nursing program has been so great, in part due to social 
media marketing, that the program was able to secure more clinical sites and 
expanded from 24 spots to over 30. 
 
Regarding persistence metrics, the College is looking at Fall-to-Fall persistence for 
new full-time students to see if the recent decrease is an anomaly after the significant 
increase for 2016-17. The IPEDS three-year completion metric and the total 
percentage of satisfactory student outcomes (1.7 and 1.9) have moved in a positive 
direction, with the completion rate increasing to 16% for the 2015 cohort. The six-
year completion rate has remained steady. For developmental education, the goal is to 
decrease the percent of students who place into developmental education; this 
decreased from 37% to 30% for Developmental English. This decrease occurred after 
the College recalibrated the placement test and instituted a co-requisite model. First-
year success in the highest Developmental English course has increased, while the 
achievement gaps for first-year success in Developmental English have decreased. 

 
Section 4.0 and additional momentum data will be presented at an upcoming meeting. 

 
(d) New Business 

There was no new business. 
 
 
 Next Meeting 

The next meeting of the Student Outcomes Committee of the Board is scheduled for June 
6, 2019 at 1:30 p.m. in Conference Room M2-34. 
 
 

Attachments: 
Minutes of February 7, 2019 
A.A. in Theater Program Review 
Acting Proficiency Certificate Program Review 
Technical Theater Proficiency Certificate Program Review 
Dashboard 
2018-19 Academic Pathways 

72



 

  

 

 

Academic Program Review: 

AAS in Accounting 

Executive Summary 

 

 

      
TERESA FRIZELL, RUQAYYAH ARCHIE, ELIZABETH GORDON 
 

73

Bscott
Typewritten Text

Bscott
Typewritten Text

Bscott
Typewritten Text

Bscott
Typewritten Text

Bscott
Typewritten Text

Bscott
Typewritten Text

Bscott
Typewritten Text



2019 Program Review Accounting AAS Executive Summary                                                                                             
 

1. Executive Summary  

A. Key Findings for the period Fall 2013-Fall 2018: 

 
Summary of Key findings 

In the period studied, enrollment and retention decreased. Students are meeting benchmarks 

on all assessments. On average, 24% of students failed or withdrew from courses. This 

indicates that the assessments may not be yielding useful data. During the period studied the 

Program added two full-time faculty members. In 2017 the Business Administration 

Department created BUSL 101, the Business, Entrepreneurship, and Law Pathway First Year 

Experience Course, which includes introductory information about the Accounting AAS. The 

Program and Dean plan to conduct an internal education campaign to ensure students are 

correctly informed of Accounting options within and outside of the Pathway community. 

Enrollment and Demographics 

1. Full-time Program enrollment decreased by 52%, from 122 students in Fall 2013 to 59 in 

Spring 2018. Part-time enrollment decreased by 25%, from 234 students in Fall 2013 to 174 in 

Spring 2018. College-wide, full-time enrollment increased and part-time enrollment decreased 

by 19%, respectively. 

2. Program enrollment averaged around 22% people who identified at Black Females, 

compared to 30% College-Wide. Program enrollment averaged 11% people who identified as 

Asian Females compared to 4% College-wide.  

3. In 2016 and 2017 completions in the Accounting AAS at the College decreased by 5% while 

they increased at Bucks and Delaware County Community Colleges by 12.5% and 27%, 

respectively. 19 students completed the program at CCP, 18 at Montgomery, and 14 at 

Delaware. 

4. The AAS can be completed entirely online. 

Retention 

5. On average fall to fall, six percentage points more Accounting students returned to a 

different program than did across the College as a whole. The Program had a four percentage 

points lower graduation than the College. 

6. 57% of students who declared Accounting as a major left the Program before they had 

earned 12 credits. 

 

 

74

Bscott
Typewritten Text

Bscott
Typewritten Text

Bscott
Typewritten Text

bscott
Typewritten Text

bscott
Typewritten Text

bscott
Typewritten Text

bscott
Typewritten Text

bscott
Typewritten Text

bscott
Typewritten Text

bscott
Typewritten Text

bscott
Typewritten Text



2019 Program Review Accounting AAS Executive Summary                                                                                      
 

Success/Graduation 

7. The Program awarded 95 AAS degrees during the period under review. After an unusually 

large graduating class of 28 in 2015, the number of degrees awarded decreased by to 20 in 

2016 and nine in 2018. 

Transfer 

8. As an AAS, the program is designed to allow students to enter the workforce with an 

Associate degree. Students who wish to transfer can do so to a baccalaureate-completion 

program.  

Advisory Committee  

9. The Business and Accounting Advisory Committee is comprised of more than 50% women 

and/or people of color. 

Workforce Development 

10. The College alumni survey does not yield actionable data regarding career placement. 

Assessment 

 

11. The Program has utilized a common assessment template to document the measurement 

Course Learning Outcomes as well as Program Level Outcomes. The Course Learning 

Outcomes are mapped on to the Program Learning Outcomes and tracked through 

spreadsheets. 

12. Students are meeting the benchmark on all of the assessments. 

13. An average of 24% (1,329) students failed or withdrew from Accounting 101 and 102, 

which are major requirements as well as service courses. 

Cost 

14. At $112 per credit hour in 2016-2017, the Program cost $24 less per credit hour than the 

Business and Technology Division and $69 less per credit hour than the College. 

Prior Audit: 2014 

1. Clarification of the program’s future directions given the current challenges: should the 
program continue to offer an AAS or is some other combination of degree and certificates 
more appropriate? The deadline for decisions about the future of the program will be 
completed by the end of Fall 2014. Changes will be implemented by Spring 2015. 

Action taken: The faculty decided to keep the program as an AAS with the addition of 
a Post Baccalaureate Accounting Proficiency Certificate. It also decided to continue 

75



2019 Program Review Accounting AAS Executive Summary                                                                                       
 

with the Accounting Paraprofessional Proficiency Certificate. 
 

2. Sustain and update the program management plan with participation of all faculty. 
Action taken: The faculty decided to adopt a faculty advising activity by cohort, with 
each faculty being assigned to reach out to Accounting students to make sure they 
understood the transferability of the program and other opportunities. In 2017 the 
program added a First-Year Experience Course, BUSL 101. This course embeds 
conversations with faculty, counseling, and advising in the course content.  
 

3. The program needs to continue to follow its plan for assessing student learning outcomes. 
Action taken: The faculty adopted Pearson’s Mylab for Accounting and continues to 
use this to assess student outcomes. 

 
4. The program should further promote its proficiency certificate program. 

Action taken: This has been included as a topic in BUSL 101 as one of the 
opportunities for students interested in Accounting. 
 

5. In support of recommendation 1, above, the program needs to collect data appropriate for 
the decisions to be made including from alumni, practitioners, current students, and advisory 
board members. 

Action taken: The Program built a larger, more complete, well-rounded advisory 
committee. Additionally, the Program hired 2 new faculty based on their continued to 
work in the field and membership in outside professional organizations. In these ways 
the Program ensures the delivery of curriculum that meets the needs of the 
workforce. 

 
6. The program must, by Fall 2014, demonstrate that they are communicating to Accounting 
students upon entry into the College about the options for transfer and workforce entry and 
advise them about the best programmatic options for them at that time. 

Action taken: We have changed our first semester sequence so students who enroll in 
Accounting AAS and take the proper sequence will meet with Advisors and Counselors as 
well as be part of BUSL 101 to help make sure students learn as soon as possible their 
options. We will conduct an internal education campaign to ensure the information being 
transmitted is correct and complete. 

 

B. Action Items 

The Office of Assessment and Evaluation makes the following recommendations for 

the Program. 

 

Enrollment and Demographics 

1. Explore the reasons peer Accounting AAS program completions are growing. Assess and 

apply appropriate tactics. 

 

76



2019 Program Review Accounting AAS Executive Summary                                                                                     
 

Retention 

 2. Investigate reasons students depart the Program within the first twelve credits. Apply 

appropriate remediation.  

3. Survey faculty and staff in the Business, Entrepreneurship, and Law Pathway and across the 

College about their perceptions of students’ goals and work and transfer options. Correct 

miscomprehensions if found. 

4. Survey students on their post-graduation transfer or work goals. Inform faculty per 

recommendation #3, above. 

5. Review the BUSL 101 curriculum to ensure that students are correctly being informed of 

their work and transfer options. Correct if necessary. 

6. Implement an education campaign to all internal stakeholders to ensure students are being 

correctly informed of their work and transfer options. 

7. Utilize information gathered from students and faculty to create and implement a plan to 

meet the three- and five-year retention goals set by the Division and Program. 

 3 Year  5 Year  

Headcount 310 60 350 100 

 # increase/ 

decrease 

% increase/ 

decrease 

# increase/ 

decrease 

% increase/ 

decrease 

Returned to Same Program 132 42.45% 175 50% 

Returned to Different Program 60 19.42% 35 10% 

Graduated 29 9.45% 70 20% 

Did Not Persist 89 28.68% 70 20% 

 

8. Ensure all instructors are using Starfish early warning system. Conduct or request 

professional development if not. 

Workforce Development 

9. Survey alumni regarding career placement. 

 

 

77



2019 Program Review Accounting AAS Executive Summary                                                                                        
 

Assessment 

10. Analyze the assessment for Accounting 101 in light of the fact that students in that course 

meet the benchmark for the assessment but a large number of students fail or withdraw from 

the course. If appropriate, make changes based on the analysis. 

C. Narrative 
Accounting is the language of business, providing students with the fundamental ability to 

communicate financial information to both internal and external users of financial 

information. 

By offering the AAS in Accounting degree, the college remains competitive and consistent 

with the programs that are offered at various surrounding community colleges as well as 

four-year universities. The community gains individuals who are able to satisfy the entry-level 

accounting needs of area employers. The program allows students to begin their career in 

accounting and gain valuable experience that will allow them to be successful in various 

business settings. The Key Performance Indicators show a decrease in the number of AAS in 

Accounting degrees awarded. According to the Program Coordinator, this can be attributed 

to the fact that students who are interested in transferring to institutions that are accredited 

by the Association to Advance Collegiate Schools in Business are advised to major in the 

Business General degree program in order to ensure that they will receive transfer credit for 

all of the courses that they have completed; however, this is a miscommunication that 

requires additional discussion with both internal and external parties of the college to ensure 

that students are receiving accurate information as it relates to their own personal goals and 

options for transfer if they so choose. 

78



 

 
 

Academic Program Review: 

Accounting Paraprofessional 
Proficiency Certificate 

      
 
 
 
      

 

 
Teresa Frizell, Ruqayyah Archie 

Spring 2019 

 
 

  

79

Bscott
Typewritten Text

Bscott
Typewritten Text

Bscott
Typewritten Text

Bscott
Typewritten Text



2019 Academic Program Review Accounting Paraprofessional Certificate Executive Summary         
 

1. Executive Summary  

 A. Key Findings for the Period Fall 2013-Spring 2018 

Enrollment and Demographics 

1. Eighteen students are currently pursuing only the Certificate, with no other major declared. 
Nearly all are part-time. 

2. The certificate enrolled 10 percentage points more people who identify as Black Males and a 
three percentage points fewer people who identify as Asian Females than the AAS. 

3. The age demographics trended to the older end of the scale, with 50% of Certificate students 
aged 30+. 

Retention 

4. Fall to fall 20% fewer Certificate-only students returned to the same Program than across the 
College. This discrepancy was mainly accounted for by the 57% of Certificate students who did 
not return to the College. Because of the small number of Certificate-only students, these 
figures amount to 1-2 students who returned to the Certificate Fall to Fall, and five students 
who did not return to the College Fall to fall. 

Success/Graduation 

5. Forty-nine students have earned the Certificate since 2015. 

Advisory Committee  

6. The Advisory Committee is comprised of more than 50% people of color or women. 

Assessment 

7. Students are meeting the benchmark on all assessments. 

B. Action Items 

 The Office of Assessment and Evaluation makes the following recommendations for the 
Certificate: 

Retention 

1. Explore retention programs targeted to working adults and Black Males. 

Workforce Development 

2. Survey Certificate holders to assess alignment between earning the Certificate and becoming 
employed in the accounting field. 

80

Bscott
Typewritten Text

Bscott
Typewritten Text

Bscott
Typewritten Text

Bscott
Typewritten Text

Bscott
Typewritten Text



2019 Academic Program Review Accounting Paraprofessional Certificate Executive Summary         
 

 Assessment 

3. Investigate the discrepancy between the prediction of success made by performance on 
assessment instruments and the lack of success and persistence in the courses and Certificate 
program. Adjust assessment or curriculum as necessary to improve retention and completion. 

 C. Narrative 

Upon completion of the certificate program, students will be able to explain the contents of the 
financial statements in accordance with Generally Accepted Accounting Principles (GAAP), 
analyze and record accounting transactions, use computerized general ledger software, 
demonstrate the knowledge and skills that are required of entry-level accounting positions, and 
effectively communicate with users of financial information both in oral and written format. This 
set of knowledge and skills will prepare students for paraprofessional positions including a tax 
clerk, bookkeeper, or accounting clerk.  

 

81



 

  

Academic Program Review: 

Entrepreneurship 
Proficiency Certificate 

      

 
TERESA FRIZELL 

 

 

 
 

82

Bscott
Typewritten Text

bscott
Typewritten Text

bscott
Typewritten Text



2019 Academic Program Review Entrepreneurship Certificate Executive Summary       
 

 

 

1. Executive Summary  

A. Key Findings for the period  

Enrollment and Demographics 

1. Three students were pursuing only the Entrepreneurship Proficiency Certificate as of 
Spring 2018; all were part-time. 

Retention 

2. Between Fall 2016 and Spring 2018, zero students persisted at the College from Fall to 
Fall. One student persisted within the Certificate Program Fall-Spring for each of the 
previous two years. 

3. All three students enrolled in the Certificate were in Good Academic Standing as of 
Spring 2018. 

Success/Graduation 

4. One student earned the Certificate. That person completed the Certificate Program in 

2018. 

5. ENTR 140, a required course, has run one time, in Summer 2018. As such, completion of 
the Certificate was not possible until this time. 

Assessment 

6. A majority of students met benchmarks with assessment scores of 75 or above for all 
course and Program learning outcomes. 

Special Expenditures and Resources 

7. The Entrepreneurship Proficiency Certificate costs to deliver per FTE are 21% less than 
the College’s average cost per FTE and 12% less than the Business and Technology 
Division average. 

 

83

Bscott
Typewritten Text

Bscott
Typewritten Text

Bscott
Typewritten Text

bscott
Typewritten Text



2019 Academic Program Review Entrepreneurship Certificate Executive Summary        
 

B. Action Items 

The Office of Assessment and Evaluation makes the following recommendations for the 
Certificate Program: 

Enrollment and Demographics 

1. Work with the Business Leadership Associate degree program faculty and the Business, 
Entrepreneurship, and Law Pathway community to promote the Entrepreneurship 
Certificate Program and to integrate Certificate smoothly into new degree program. 

2. Conduct a needs assessment study to determine likely audiences for recruitment and 
the entrepreneurship educational requirements of those audiences. 

Retention 

3. Survey students in ENTR 110 to establish a baseline of interest in enrollment in the 
Certificate Program and gather data on student expectations of entrepreneurship 
education. 

4. Establish relationships with non-credit College programs focused on small businesses to 
create a network of opportunities for Entrepreneurship students. 

Success/Graduation 

5. Monitor effects of integration into Business Leadership Associate degree program on 

Certificate completion rates. 

Assessment 

6. Investigate the discrepancy between student success on assessment instruments, DFW 
rates in ENTR courses, and lack of persistence in the Certificate program. Adjust 
assessments or curriculum as necessary to foster student success. 

 

C. Narrative 

The Entrepreneurship Proficiency Certificate was created to provide students with basic 
knowledge and skills to navigate their way through an ever-changing market place and job 
market. Entrepreneurial skills give individuals a competitive advantage in the job market and 
also enable them to apply the skills to effectively starting their own part-time or full-time 
ventures. According to the Program Coordinator, the Certificate Program faced a number of 
significant challenges in recruiting students and maintaining enrollment during its first years, 
primarily due to its placement within the Business and Technology Division. Effective Fall 
2018, ENTR 150 was added to the Certificate Program, expanding the Program from twelve 
to sixteen credits so that students could receive financial aid for the courses.  There are two 

84



2019 Academic Program Review Entrepreneurship Certificate Executive Summary        
 

significant initiatives that can contribute to the Certificate’s success in the future. The 
Division’s new Business Leadership Associate degree will be launched during Fall 2019 and 
students will be able to enroll in the Entrepreneurship Proficiency Certificate and have the 
courses applied to the new Associate degree. For the first time, the Certificate will have a 
“home.”  The Division is also in dialogue with Drexel University’s Close School of 
Entrepreneurship about using the existing articulation agreement between the schools to 
enable CCP students to transfer their entrepreneurship course credits to the Close School if 
they are accepted into a new degree Program that the Close School is offering. The 
Entrepreneurship Team continues to meet regularly to monitor enrollment, review course 
content, and discuss ways to improve the courses and the Certificate. 

 

85



COMBINED PHONE MEETING OF THE BUSINESS AFFAIRS AND  
EXECUTIVE COMMITTEES OF THE BOARD OF TRUSTEES 

Community College of Philadelphia  
Wednesday, June 19, 2019 – 9:00 A.M. 

 
Present for the Business Affairs Committee: Mr. Harold Epps and Mr. Steve Herzog 
 
Present for the Executive Committee: Mr. Jeremiah J. White (Chair); Lydia Hernández  
     Vélez, Esquire, and the Honorable James Roebuck 
 

College Administration:   Donald Generals, Ed.D., Mr. Jacob Eapen,  
     Mr. James P. Spiewak and Victoria Zellers, Esq. 
 

AGENDA 
 

PUBLIC SESSION 
 
(1) 2019-20 Property and Casualty Insurance Renewal Package (Action Item): 

 
Discussion:  Mr. Eapen noted that for today’s agenda there was only one action item, 

the FY 2019-2020 insurance renewal package.  Mr. Spiewak stated that Attachment A contains 
the summary of the insurance premiums and coverages based upon the insurance renewal 
process conducted by Willis Towers Watson (WTW), the College’s broker.  He reviewed the 
coverages and noted that the staff were recommending carrier changes for the ELL and Cyber 
insurance policies.  He stated that overall, the insurance premiums increased from $898,174 in 
2018-19 to $951,070 in 2019-20. 

 
Ms. Zellers explained that a concern with changing ELL carriers is the need to have 

continuous coverage for existing claims and administrative charges that could become claims in 
a subsequent year.  She noted that staff and WTW thoroughly explored these circumstances 
with both AIG (current provider) and UE (recommended provider) and were assured of 
continuous coverage.  In addition to the lower premium, Ms. Zellers remarked that having both 
ELL and General Liability coverage with the same carrier eliminates the possibility of certain 
types of claims being denied by one carrier or the other.  Additionally, UE will provide $75,000 
in crisis management funds, has been easy to work with, and generally has a more client-
friendly philosophy since it is a reciprocal risk retention group owned by its members. 

 
Mr. Spiewak noted that the other change in carriers was moving to Chubb from AIG due 

to a lower premium.  Ms. Zellers noted that, additionally, Chubb offered a better panel of law 
firms and security consultants to utilize should an incident occur. 

 
In response to Committee members’ questions, staff noted that WTW has been the 

College’s insurance broker for the past seven years.  They were chosen from the RFP finalists 
that also included AON, Gallagher and PK Financial, a minority firm.  Mr. Spiewak responded 
that the general liability policy has a $25,000 deductible per claim with a $100,000 annual 
maximum, and that the deductibles paid over the past few years is in the $40,000 range.  Ms. 
Zellers noted that most of the ELL claims are handled in—house with spending for external law 
firms in the range of $20,000 per year.  Staff noted that annually there are typically 4 or 5 slip 
and fall general liability claims and a few employment-related claims filed with administrative 
agencies such as EEOC and OCR.  There are currently three employment-related claims that are 
at the federal level and there was one cyber insurance claim last year. 

 

86



 
 

Action:  Mr. Epps moved and Mr. Herzog seconded the motion that the Business Affairs 
Committee recommend that the Executive Committee of the Board of Trustees approve the 
2019-20 insurance program, with a total cost of $1,006,070 including the broker fee.  The 
motion passed unanimously. 

 
Action:  Ms. Hernández Vélez moved and Mr. Roebuck seconded the motion that the 

Executive Committee of the Board of Trustees approve the 2019-20 insurance program, with a 
total cost of $1,006,070 including the broker fee.  The motion passed unanimously. 
 

(2) Next Meeting Date: 
 

The next regularly scheduled meeting of the Business Affairs Committee will be held on 
Wednesday, August 21st at 9:00 A.M. in the Isadore A. Shrager Boardroom, M2-1.   
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

JE/lm 
Attachments 
BAC\JUNE 19, 2019MINUTES.DOC 

87



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

ATTACHMENT A 
 

2019-2020 Property and Casualty  

Insurance Renewal Program 
 
 

88



Introduction  

The College insurance program is reviewed annually prior to the July 1 renewal with its broker, 
Willis Towers Watson (WTW).  During the renewal strategy meeting held on February 25, 2019, 
it was decided that WTW would approach the incumbent carriers with the intent of securing 
identical coverages at premiums as close to expiring as possible and approach other selective 
carriers.   

 

General Liability 

The College's general liability coverage has been with United Educators (UE) for the past 
eighteen years.  Willis Towers Watson has opined that UE has the best General Liability (GL) 
policy form available in the higher education market offering the most comprehensive coverage.  
The College was anticipating a rate increase in the range of 4 to 7% based upon discussions 
WTW had with UE’s underwriters but the renewal premium of $201,420 came in $8,276 or 4% 
higher than the expiring premium with no change to the deductibles ($25,000 each occurrence; 
$100,000 annual aggregate).  As in past years, the College was granted a 6% premium rate 
credit based upon certain risk management initiatives that were undertaken during the year.  
Additionally, the College is entitled to a dividend of $14,715 from United Educators if at least 
one coverage line (GL or Umbrella) is renewed.  This, in effect, makes the net cost to the 
College for fiscal year 2019-20 equal to $186,705.  United Educators is organized as a reciprocal 
risk retention group – owned by its members like CCP; this would be the eighth consecutive 
year that the College will have received a dividend.  

 

Umbrella 

The College’s umbrella liability coverage ($25 million for any one loss) has also been with 
United Educators for the past eighteen years.  UE’s policy form offers the most comprehensive 
coverage in the higher education market for umbrella/excess coverage according to Willis 
Towers Watson.  United Educators offered a renewal rate of $98,030 which is $9,155 or 10% 
higher than the expiring premium. This policy also sits on top of the $1 million coverage for 
student medical malpractice insurance.  It also provides excess general liability, automobile 
liability, employers’ liability, and foreign liability insurance.  As with the general liability policy, 
the College was granted a 6% premium reduction based upon certain risk management 
initiatives that were undertaken during the year.    

 

Workers’ Compensation 

The College was anticipating a rate increase of 5% based on changes in the experience 
modification factor. PMA quoted a rate of $298,891 which is $8,025 or 3% higher than the 
expiring premium. The College’s PA experience modification factor for the New Year increased 
from .877 to .909, a 4% increase. The Human Resources Office and the College’s Safety 
Committee continue to review all work-related claims and offer recommendations and training 
efforts where needed. The College’s Safety Committee again received re-certification from the 
PA Department of Labor; this automatically makes the College eligible for a 5% reduction in 
premium.  

 

89



Property  

Affiliated FM quoted a rate of $188,544 which is $16,459 or 10% higher than the expiring 
premium. This policy was marketed with three additional carriers; however, the pricing was not 
competitive. The College will have a blanket limit of $369,436,307 with a deductible of $25,000.  
This policy also provides $7 million of business interruption insurance.   

 

Educators’ Legal Liability 

The College’s current ELL policy, at a limit of $15 million, has been with AIG for a number of 
years.  At this year’s renewal AIG only offered coverage to a limit of $10 million.  Willis was 
able to secure an additional $5 million of coverage from Starr whose policy would contain the 
same terms and conditions of the AIG policy.  The combined cost for these policies is $137,320.  
Willis secured a quote from United Educators (UE), who has been the College’s insurer for 
general and excess liability for the past eighteen years at a premium rate of $115,239.  UE had 
been the College’s ELL insurer prior to AIG.  In order to assure continuity of coverage regarding 
claims that are not yet in a litigated environment, College staff had discussions with 
representatives of AIG, UE and Willis.  Confirmations were received from AIG confirming that 
currently reported claims would be covered by AIG should they become litigated claims in the 
future.  UE confirmed that they will allow the College to handle OCR and EEOC claims in-house 
and that the College’s preferred attorney can be added to their team of defense attorneys on a 
trial basis.  Based upon staff’s thorough review of all situational matters, a $15-million-dollar 
policy with UE is recommended.  In addition to the lower cost, UE’s policy also has another 
advantage over the AIG policy; it contains $75,000 of coverage to be used for crisis 
management to pay for services such as crisis communications, trauma/grief counseling, sexual 
misconduct investigations, and threat assessment consultations.  Moving to UE also ensures 
coverage of certain claims that were previously carved out of UE’s general liability policy and 
AIG’s ELL policy. 

 

Automobile 

The incumbent carrier, Philadelphia Insurance Co., offered a renewal rate of $19,885 which is 
$169 higher than the current year. The automobile policy covers employees driving College 
owned, rented or hired vehicles as well as providing collision and comprehensive coverage for 
the College’s (7) vehicles.   

 

Student Medical Malpractice 

CNA quoted a rate of $8,125 that is $85 higher than the expiring premium.  The number of 
students participating in clinical settings affects the cost of this insurance.  The number of 
students expected to be in clinical environments was increased from 760 to 768.  There has been 
no rate increase for this coverage over the past several years.  This policy provides $1 million in 
coverage to the College and to students and faculty related to their activities in a clinical setting. 

90



Crime 

Travelers, the incumbent carrier’s, renewal rate is $5,781 or $133 higher than the expiring 
policy. Travelers no longer offers a 3-year policy option. This policy provides the College with 
protection against 1st party (employee) theft and 3rd party theft and fraud for a limit of $4 
million.  It also covers “social engineering fraud/ funds transfer” should an employee 
unwittingly transfer College assets to a fraudulent third party due to deceptive activities.   

 

International Liability 

This policy provides foreign-based general liability, automobile liability, and workers’ compensation 
coverage as well as travel, medical and security assistance services for faculty and staff traveling 
abroad.  This policy also includes kidnap and extortion coverage.  The College purchased a three-
year policy in fiscal year 2017-18 at an annual cost of $2,356. 

 

Security and Privacy (Cyber Insurance) 

AIG, the incumbent carrier, offered a renewal rate of $13,625 or $40 higher than the expiring 
policy. The Cyber policy was marketed and Chubb offered a better rate of $11,484. This 
insurance offers protection to the College if there were data security breaches or compromises of 
student and/or employee “private” information (as determined by federal and state jurisdiction).  
The carrier will provide forensic and legal assistance from a panel of experts to help determine the 
extent of the breach and the steps required to comply with applicable laws, include the following:  
notification to persons who must be notified under applicable law or on a voluntary basis; offer 12 
months of 3-bureau credit monitoring to affected individuals; identify theft-related fraud resolution 
services for individuals enrolled in credit monitoring who become victims of identity theft;  and 
extend coverage for theft, loss or unauthorized disclosure of information held by business 
associates as defined by HIPPA.  First party benefits include protection for data recovery and 
business interruption, extortion threats, and regulatory defense and penalties.  The policy also 
protects the College against 3rd party legal action for damages arising from the alleged breach 
(including defense costs).  The College currently has a policy limit of $3 million and offers 
notification and credit monitoring services for up to 250,000 affected individuals in addition to $1 
million of coverage for reputational loss in the event of a data security breach. 

 

Broker Fee 

The annual fee for 2019-20 is $55,000 which is the same fee as the prior year. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

91



Recommendation 

College staff recommends that the College procure insurance as detailed below. 

 

Coverage Carrier

Expiring          

(2019-20)

Renewal          

(2019-20)

Premium Premium

General Liability ($1M) United Educators $193,144 $201,420

Umbrella ($25M) United Educators 88,875         98,030          

Workers' Compensation PMA 290,866       298,891        

Property Affiliated FM 172,085       188,544        

Educators' Legal Liability ($15M) UE 102,544       115,239        

Automobile Phila. Insurance Co. 19,716         19,885          

Student Medical Professional Liability ($1M) CNA 8,040           8,125            

Crime ($4M) Travelers 5,648           5,781            

International Liability Navigators 2,356           2,356            

Security & Privacy Chubb 13,585         11,484          

Travel Accident AIG 1,315           1,315            

$898,174 $951,070

Broker Fee Willis Towers Watson $55,000 $55,000

TOTAL INSURANCE PREMIUMS

 

92



 

 

COMBINED PHONE MEETING OF THE BUSINESS AFFAIRS  
AND EXECUTIVE COMMITTEES OF THE BOARD OF TRUSTEES 

Community College of Philadelphia 
Monday, July 22, 2019 – 10:00 A.M. 

 

Dial-In Number:  1-888-675-6779 
Participant Passcode:  5410073# 

Moderator:  7865650# (Community College of Philadelphia) 
 

Present for the Business Affairs Committee: Mr. Harold Epps, Mr. Steve Herzog and Mr. 

Michael Soileau 

 

Present for the Executive Committee: Mr. Jeremiah J. White (Chair); Lydia Hernández  
     Vélez, Esquire, and the Honorable James Roebuck 
 

College Administration:  Donald Generals, Ed.D., Mr. Jacob Eapen, Mr.  
   Michael Fohner, Ms. Marsia Henley, Mr. Gim Lim, 

 Mr. James P. Spiewak, Mr. William Vogel, and  
   Victoria Zellers, Esq. 
 

AGENDA – PUBLIC SESSION 

MEETING OF THE BUSINESS AFFAIRS COMMITTEE OF THE  
BOARD OF TRUSTEES 

 

Bid Results for the Library and Learning Commons Renovations Project (Action Item): 

Discussion:  Mr. Eapen briefly reviewed the purpose for the Library and Learning Commons 

Project that will incorporate the entire footprint of the Library space in the Mint Building, and 

adjacent portions of the Bonnell Building.  The project will address the changes in demand for 

Library services, provide a central learning student destination, will realign the Library, Learning 

Laboratories and Learning/Tutoring spaces, and will incorporate enhancements to the interior and 

exterior learning environments within the surrounding common spaces, courtyards, and 

circulation spaces.  This area will become one of the center pieces of the College campus. 

He noted that HDR, the Architect of Record for the project, created specifications and 

drawings which were divided into five prime contract packages:  General Trades; Mechanical; 

Electrical and AV; Plumbing; and Fire Protection. Using PennBid, a request for proposals (RFP 

10052) was posted for the College to receive bids on June 17, 2019. 

College staff conducted a mandatory Pre-Bid Conference and site walk-through on May 

15, 2019 with 36 contractors in attendance, of which 10 were General Trades, 8 were Mechanical 

and/or Plumbing, 4 were Electrical, 2 were Fire Protection and 11 Specialty Contractors/Suppliers. 

100% Bid Documents dated as of April 23, 2019 were posted to PennBid on May 1, 2019. Two 

93



 

 

Addendums were posted: Addendum #1 on May 16, 2019 and Addendum #2 on June 11, 2019. 

A second site walk-through for contractors was held on June 6, 2019. 

Mr. Eapen explained that to increase the potential for having participation of minority and 

women-owned businesses, JMT (Johnson, Mirmiran & Thompson), Inc. who is the College’s 

Construction Manager, assisted the College in outreach efforts to MBE/DBE/WBE firms.  As is 

practice of the Purchasing Department, notice of the project opportunity and bid requirements 

was sent to twenty-nine support groups requesting that they disseminate the information.  

Additionally, nine individual invitations were sent to the heads of those support groups asking 

that they attend the Library and Learning Commons networking event.  The Pre-Bid Diverse 

Contractor & Supplier Mixer event was held on May 22, 2019 and attendance was mandatory for 

the prime contract bidders. These outreach efforts were in addition to the Legal Notices advertised 

with two MBE publishers, Al Dia Newspaper and the Philadelphia Sun.   

Mr. Eapen also noted that the PennBid program utilized by the College uses a combination 

of Department of General Services (DGS) codes and the DGS Website to invite all Disadvantaged 

Business Enterprises (DBEs) in those categories listed with the State of Pennsylvania. 

On Monday, June 24, 2019, a post-bid scope conference was held with each of the low-

bid respondents, where their scope of work was reviewed and confirmed. As necessary, follow-

up interviews were conducted on Monday, July 1, 2019.  Subsequent to the above, College staff 

recommend awarding the contracts to the low bid respondents as follows: 

 General Trades to be awarded to New Age Development Group in the 

amount of $7,693,491.04 

 Mechanical to be awarded to PT Mechanical in the amount of 

$1,924,453.00 

 Electrical to be awarded to McGoldrick Electric, Inc. in the amount of 

$3,087,013.00 

 Plumbing to be awarded to Dolan Mechanical, Inc. in the amount of 

$214,000.00 

 

Fire Protection has been re-advertised and bid openings are July 22, 2019. 

Estimated contract value is $345,000.00 

 

Below are the results of the bids by Contract type. 

  

94



 

 

 

Bids 
Received 

Contract Company Status Base Bid Amount 

5 General Trades New Age Development Group Disabled 
Veteran 
Owned 

$7,222,513.04 

  The Bedwell Company  $8,778,000.00 

  Smith Construction, Inc. Woman Owned $9,083,000.00 

  Clemens Construction  $11,592,044.00 

  MJ Settelen Construction, LLC  $10,956,301.02 

     

3 Mechanical PT Mechanical Group  $1,924,453.00 

  Dolan Mechanical, Inc.  $1,952,000.00 

  Edward J. Meloney  $2,040,000.00 

     

2 Electrical McGoldrick Electric, Inc.  $3,047,013.00 

  Mulhern Electric Company  $5,326,317.00 

     

1 Plumbing Dolan Mechanical, Inc.  $214,000.00 

     

0 Fire Protection   $0* 

    *Re-advertising 

   Total Base Bid $12,407,979.04 

College staff further recommend the following Alternates be contracted: 

 Alternate 3 – 
Atrium Stairway 

Alternate 4 – 
Café Stairway 

Alternate 6 – 
West Courtyard 

Base Bid + 
Alternates 3,4 & 
5 

General Trades $206,599 $134,171 $130,208  

Mechanical $0 $0 $0  

Electrical $10,000 $10,000 $20,000  

Plumbing $1 $1 $1  

Fire Protection $0 $0 $0  

 $216,600 $144,172 $150,209 $12,918,960.04 

The staff does not recommend the following Alternates be included at this time:  

 

Alternate 1 – Temporary Chiller Connection 

Alternate 2 – Air Handling Unit Cooling Condit 

Alternate 5 - Shell Space LR-06 

Alternate 7 – AV Equipment Substitutions 

  

95



 

 

 

Action:  Mr. Epps moved and Mr. Herzog seconded the motion that the Business Affairs 

Committee recommend that the Executive Committee of the Board of Trustees approve the 

awarding of the contracts to the low bid respondents for the Library and Learning Commons 

Renovations Project as follows: 

 General Trades to be awarded to New Age Development Group in the 

amount of $7,693,491.04 

 Mechanical to be awarded to PT Mechanical in the amount of 

$1,924,453.00 

 Electrical to be awarded to McGoldrick Electric, Inc. in the amount of 

$3,087,013.00 

 Plumbing to be awarded to Dolan Mechanical, Inc. in the amount of 

$214,000.00 

  

The motion passed unanimously. 

 

(2) Fire Protection – Rebid (Action Item): 

Discussion:  Mr. Eapen stated that it has become necessary to re-bid the Fire Protection 

contract since there were no respondents to the initial solicitation for the Library and Learning 

Commons Project.  The College re-posted the Fire Protection (RFP#10052) to PennBid on June 

25, 2019 and the project team contacted and encouraged twenty-two fire protection companies 

licensed by the Philadelphia Department of Licenses and Inspections to submit bids.   

A request for proposal (RFP 10052) was posted for the College to receive bids on July 22, 

2019. 

A mandatory Pre-Bid Conference and site walk-through was held on July 8, 2019 with 
three contractors in attendance, of which one was a Fire Protection firm. All necessary bid 
documents were posted on PennBid.  

 
College staff request the Committees’ approval to award the Fire Protection contract to 

the lowest responsible bidder provided that said bid does not exceed the estimated amount of 

$345,000 by 10%. 

 

Action:  Mr. Epps moved and Mr. Herzog seconded the motion that the Business Affairs 

Committee recommend that the Executive Committee of the Board of Trustees approve the 

awarding of the Fire Protection contract to the lowest responsible bidder for the Library and 

Learning Commons Renovations Project provided that said bid does not exceed the estimated 

amount of $345,000 by 10%.  The motion passed unanimously.   

  

96



 

 

 
MEETING OF THE EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE OF THE BOARD OF TRUSTEES 

 
The Executive Committee of the Board of Trustees was convened to move forward with 

the recommendations of the Business Affairs Committee.  After discussion regarding the bid 
results for the Library and Learning Commons Renovation Project and the Fire Protection Re-bid, 
the following action was taken. 

 

Action:  Ms. Hernández Vélez moved and Mr. Roebuck seconded the motion that the 

Executive Committee of the Board of Trustees approve the awarding of the contracts to the low 

bid respondents for the Library and Learning Commons Renovations Project as follows: 

 General Trades to be awarded to New Age Development Group in the 

amount of $7,693,491.04 

 Mechanical to be awarded to PT Mechanical in the amount of 

$1,924,453.00 

 Electrical to be awarded to McGoldrick Electric, Inc. in the amount of 

$3,087,013.00 

 Plumbing to be awarded to Dolan Mechanical, Inc. in the amount of 

$214,000.00 

 

Action:  Ms. Hernández Vélez and Mr. Roebuck also motioned that the Executive 

Committee of the Board of Trustees approve the awarding of the Fire Protection contract to the 

lowest responsible bidder for the Library and Learning Commons Renovations Project if said bid 

does not exceed the estimated amount of $345,000 by 10%. 

 

The motions passed unanimously. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
JE/lm 

BAC\JULY 22, 2019MINUTES.DOC 
    

97



COMBINED PHONE MEETING OF THE BUSINESS AFFAIRS  
AND EXECUTIVE COMMITTEES OF THE BOARD OF TRUSTEES 

Community College of Philadelphia 
Wednesday, August 14, 2019 – 9:00 A.M. 

 

Dial-In Number:  1-888-675-6779 
Participant Passcode:  5410073# 

Moderator:  7865650# (Community College of Philadelphia) 
 

Present for the Business Affairs Committee: Mr. Harold Epps, Mr. Steve Herzog and Mr. 
Michael Soileau 

Present for the Executive Committee: Mr. Jeremiah J. White (Chair); Ms. Chekemma 
     Fulmore-Townsend, and the Honorable James 
      Roebuck 
 
College Administration: Donald Generals, Ed.D., Mr. Jacob Eapen, Mr. James 

P. Spiewak, and Victoria Zellers, Esq. 
 

AGENDA – PUBLIC SESSION 

MEETING OF THE BUSINESS AFFAIRS COMMITTEE OF THE  
BOARD OF TRUSTEES 

 
First Amendment to the Lease Agreement with RPG Hamilton, L.L.C. (Action Item): 

Discussion:  Ms. Zellers noted that Phase I for The Hamilton project was completed and 
the College received its first ground lease payment from RPG Hamilton, L.L.C. (“RPG”) in April, 
2019.  Phase I is at approximately 80% occupancy.  According to the original Lease Agreement, 
Phase II could start as early as August, 2019 but RPG could request a certain number of 
extensions depending on the status of Phase I.  Based on Phase I reaching approximately 80% 
occupancy, RPG is ready to proceed with Phase II.  Construction for Phase II will start this Fall. 

Ms. Zellers briefly reviewed the reasons for the Amendment which include the following:   

1. Phase II will have larger square footage, more floors and units than originally 
anticipated.  Instead of 210 apartments, the current plan is for Phase II to 
have 297 apartments. 

2. Ground Rent paid by RPG to the College for Phase II will be increased based 
on the increased size for Phase II.   

3.  Preferred financial considerations and credit review process to become a 
tenant for College students will commence upon execution of the Amendment.  
Instead of demonstrating that a student or his/her co-signer meet the income 
requirements for three times the full apartment rent, he/she only has to 
demonstrate that he/she meets the income requirements for three times 
his/her pro-rated share of the apartment rent.  (All tenants are still liable for 
the full amount of the lease since they are leased by apartment units, but 
students can qualify to rent based on only his/her pro-rated share.) In 
exchange for this preferred status, the College agreed it may, in its reasonable 

98



discretion, place a hold on official transcripts and registration for any student 
who defaults on his/her rental obligation until satisfied.  

4. There will not be any retail space in Phase I, but Phase II retail space will be 
increased.  Phase II borders 16th street which is more attractive to potential 
retail partners than Hamilton street.   
 

Ms. Zellers further stated that staff would like to expedite this process to allow potential 
student renters looking to sign up this August for the Fall semester to have the benefit of the 
preferred credit rating approval process. 

 
In response to Committee members’ questions, staff stated that the retail space to be 

added on 16th Street will not generate additional ground lease payments as that concept was 
included in the original Lease Agreement.  It was noted that at the end of the academic year, 
there were 32 students renting at The Hamilton.  The management company of The Hamilton is 
Bozzuto, a national company.   Mr. Epps asked for information relating to the number of minority 
staff working at The Hamilton.  The staff stated that the information will be made available at the 
next Business Affairs Committee meeting. 
 

Action:  Mr. Herzog moved and Mr. Epps seconded the motion that the Business Affairs 
Committee recommend that the Executive Committee of the Board of Trustees approve the First 
Amendment to the Lease Agreement with RPG.   The motion passed unanimously. 

  

99



 
MEETING OF THE EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE OF THE BOARD OF TRUSTEES 

 
The Executive Committee of the Board of Trustees was convened to move forward with 

the recommendation of the Business Affairs Committee.  Ms. Zellers presented a Resolution 
(please refer to Attachment A), to the Executive Committee which outlined that Phase I of the 
15th & Hamilton Project has reached substantial completion as defined in the Ground Lease 
Agreement dated May 12, 2017.  As stated in the Resolution, RPG Hamilton, L.L.C. (“RPG”) and 
the College have negotiated in good faith regarding certain amendments to the Lease Agreement 
for Phase II of the 15th & Hamilton Project (including but not limited to an increased number of 
apartment units, increased ground rent paid by RPG  to the College, and for changes in retail 
space from Phase I to Phase II); and for preferred financial considerations and credit review 
process for CCP students seeking residency at the Hamilton.  After discussion regarding the 
Amendment to the ground lease with RPG, the following action was taken. 

 
Action:  Ms. Fulmore-Townsend moved and Mr. Roebuck seconded the motion that the 

Executive Committee of the Board of Trustees approve the Resolution authorizing the College to 
execute the First Amendment to Lease Agreement for the 15th and Hamilton Project.  The motion 
passed unanimously. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
JE/lm 

BAC\AUGUST 14, 2019MINUTES.DOC 
    

  

100



 

 

 

 

 

Attachment A 

Resolution Authorizing the College to 

Execute the First Amendment to Lease 

Agreement for the 15th & Hamilton Street 

Project 

  

101



RESOLUTION 

WHEREAS, on November 3, 2016, the Board of Trustees for Community College of Philadelphia 

(the “Board”) passed a resolution authorizing the Community College of Philadelphia (the 

“College”) to execute an Agreement to Enter into Ground Lease and the corresponding Ground 

Lease with RPG Hamilton, LLC (“RPG Hamilton”) for a public-private partnership with RPG 

Hamilton whereby RPG Hamilton would develop the College’s property located at 440 N.  15th 

Street Philadelphia, PA 19130 to create a mixed-use development comprised of student and 

market housing, and retail amenities, and to provide for the ongoing management of the 

property (the “15th & Hamilton Project”) subject to the terms and conditions of the Ground 

Lease;   

WHEREAS, the Ground Lease included terms and conditions for Phase I and Phase II of the 15th 

& Hamilton Project; 

WHEREAS, the College and RPG Hamilton entered the Ground Lease on May 12, 2017 (“Lease 

Agreement”); 

WHEREAS, Phase I of the 15th & Hamilton Project has reached Substantial Completion as 

defined in the Lease Agreement and RPG Hamilton and the College have negotiated in good 

faith regarding certain amendments to the Lease Agreement for Phase II of the 15th & Hamilton 

Project (including but not limited to an increased number of apartment units, increased ground 

rent paid by RPG Hamilton to the College, and for changes in retail space from Phase I to Phase 

II); and for preferred financial considerations and credit review process for CCP students 

seeking residency at the Hamilton; 

NOW THEREFORE ON THIS 14th DAY OF AUGUST 2019, IT IS RESOLVED THAT THE 

EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE OF THE BOARD AUTHORIZES THE COLLEGE TO EXECUTE THE FIRST 

AMENDMENT TO LEASE AGREEMENT FOR THE 15th & HAMILTON PROJECT.   

 

102



103



104



105



106



107



108



 

 

September 2019 Calendar of Events  
 
  

Welcome Week 
Fall 2019 Term Begins  
September 3-6, Various Locations across main campus and regional centers 
 
Legislative Breakfast 
Office of Government Relations  
 September 5, Pavilion Building, the Klein Cube, 8:00 a.m.   
 
Student Photography Art Exhibition  
Photographic Imaging Department  

September 9-30th, Mint Building, the Rotunda  
 
Gas Pipeline Information Session 
Corporate Solutions 
 September 9, Center for Business & Industry, C2-5, 3:30 - 6:00 p.m. 
 
Patriot Day Remembrance Ceremony 
Veterans Resource Center 

September 11, Bonnell Building, Lobby, 10:00 – 10:30 a.m. 
 

All-in Inclusivity Workshop 
Center for Male Engagement 

September 11, Winnet Building, the Great Hall 12:00 – 3:00 p.m. 
 
International Student Transfer Information Session 
International Student Services 

September 12, Pavilion Building, the Klein Cube, 11:00 a.m.-12:30 p.m. 
 
Donor Societies Acknowledgement Reception 
Office of Institutional Advancement 

September 12, Mint Building, the Rotunda, 5:30 – 7:30 p.m. 
 
Citizenship Day 
Single Stop Office & the Fox Rothschild Center for Law and Society 

September 14, Center for Business & Industry, C2-28, 8:00 a.m. – 4:00 p.m. 
http://www.stepuptocitizenship.com/ 

 
Census Champion Training with Philly Counts 
Institute for Community Engagement and Civic Leadership 

September 17, Center for Business & Industry, C2-28, 9:40 a.m. – 7:30 p.m. 
  

Student Support Service Fair 
Student Support Services & Division of Liberal Studies 

September 18, Bonnell Building, Lobby, 10:00 a.m. – 2:00 p.m. 
 
 
 

109

http://www.stepuptocitizenship.com/


 

 

 
 
 
 
September 17, join us for our Pride Party as we launch the college’s new mascot and celebrate the start 

of the semester with the Black and Gold Bash.  Come meet Community College of Philadelphia's new 
mascot! Entertainment, food, giveaways and much more! For more info, visit: 

http://myccp.online/roar 
 

September 17, 2019 
Winnet Courtyard, 12:00 p.m.-4:00 p.m. 
CCP Pride Party / Mascot Launch (12-1pm) 

Black & Gold Bash (1-4pm) 
 

#CCPpride Days - Every Tuesday "Wear Your Black, Gold, or Lions Gear!" 
 

 
Intercollegiate Athletics Schedule 

https://www.ccp.edu/campus-life/athletics/intercollegiate-athletics 
Women’s Volleyball 
Men’s Cross Country 

Women’s Cross Country 
 

 
 

 

 
#CCP Votes - Voter Registration Rally 
Institute for Community Engagement and Civic Leadership in partnership with The Urban League of 
Philadelphia 

September 24, Bonnell Building, Lobby, 12:00 – 2:00 p.m. 
 
Health and Wellness Fair 
Office of Human Resources 

September 25, Winnet Building, the Great Hall 10:00 a.m. – 4:00 p.m. 
 
Fireside Chat: Latinx Heritage Month 
Office of the President 

September 25, Winnet Building, Lobby, 3:00 – 4:00 p.m. 
 

Student Government Association Expo and Inauguration 
Center for Student Leadership Development 

September 26, Winnet Building, Lobby, 10:00 a.m. – 2:00 p.m. 
 

A Conversation with Change Makers, Panel Discussion & Reception 
Division of Marketing and Communications 
 September 26, Pavilion Building, Klein Cube, 4:00 – 6:00 p.m. 
 
 
 

 

110

http://myccp.online/roar

	tableofcontents9.5.19
	agenda 9.5.19
	6.6.19BoardProceedings
	6.6.19BoardMinutes
	Board of Trustees Sep 2019 - Record of Grants and Gifts
	June 5, 2019 Audit Committee Meeting Minutes and Attachments-1
	June 6 2019  Student Outcomes Committee Minutes
	SOC minutes for 6-6-19 DRAFT 8-5-19
	SOC minutes for 5-2-19 DRAFT 5-14-19
	2019 Program Review Accounting Executive Summary
	2019 Program Review Accounting Para PC Executive Summary
	1. Executive Summary
	Enrollment and Demographics
	B. Action Items
	The Office of Assessment and Evaluation makes the following recommendations for the Certificate:


	2019 Program Review Entrepreneurship Executive Summary
	1. Executive Summary
	A. Key Findings for the period
	1. Three students were pursuing only the Entrepreneurship Proficiency Certificate as of Spring 2018; all were part-time.
	2. Between Fall 2016 and Spring 2018, zero students persisted at the College from Fall to Fall. One student persisted within the Certificate Program Fall-Spring for each of the previous two years.
	3. All three students enrolled in the Certificate were in Good Academic Standing as of Spring 2018.

	B. Action Items
	The Office of Assessment and Evaluation makes the following recommendations for the Certificate Program:
	3. Survey students in ENTR 110 to establish a baseline of interest in enrollment in the Certificate Program and gather data on student expectations of entrepreneurship education.
	4. Establish relationships with non-credit College programs focused on small businesses to create a network of opportunities for Entrepreneurship students.

	C. Narrative



	Business Affairs Committee Meeting Minutes June 19, 2019
	Combined BAC & Executive Committee Meeting Minutes July 22, 2019
	BAC & EC August 14, 2019 Meeting Minutes-1
	BAC.EC August 30th Meeting Minutes
	Sept 2019 Events for Board Meeting Handout



